IS FACTORY FARMING MAKING US SICK?

A Guide to Animal Diseases and their Impact on Human Health



Contents

Introduction	4
Avian Influenza (Bird Flu)	6
Bovine TB	
BSE	
Campylobacter	
E. Coli (0157: H7)	14
Foot and Mouth Disease	
Johne's Disease	
Meningitis	
MRSA	
Nipah	
Q Fever	
Salmonella	
Swine Flu	
Other Zoonotic Diseases	
We can change	
References	



Introduction

The majority of farmed animals in the UK are reared intensively, inside crowded, filthy sheds which are the perfect environment for bacteria and viruses to flourish. Stressed by their surroundings and their inability to display natural behaviours, forced to live in their own excrement alongside sick and dying animals, it is not surprising that farmed animals are vulnerable to infection. Their immunity is further weakened by the industry breeding from just a few high-yielding strains, which has led to genetic erosion. This makes it easier for disease to sweep swiftly through a group of animals, who are likely to share nearidentical genetics with little immunological resistance.

These 'factory farming' systems which deny animals a life worth living also threaten the health of the people who work on farms and in slaughterhouses, those who consume animal products, and even those who don't. Diseases can be spread from animals to people directly or via contact with contaminated water or slurry, or through eating meat, milk or eggs. Some diseases can then be passed from person to person. More than 60 per cent of the almost 1,500 known human pathogens - biological agents that cause disease - are thought to have originated in animals¹, with threequarters of emerging infectious diseases also coming from animals².

In recent years, animal farming has brought us outbreaks of BSE, bovine TB, foot and mouth, bird flu, swine flu, campylobacter, salmonella and many more devastating diseases. No wonder the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization has warned that global industrial meat production poses a serious threat to human health³.

CREATING ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE

Instead of protecting ourselves by changing how we treat animals and ending the factory farm conditions that make disease outbreaks inevitable, we administer antibiotics

to the animals in an effort to keep them alive just long enough for them to be profitable. Antibiotics are administered so frequently that dangerous pathogens have now mutated and become resistant to them. Globally, more antibiotics are given to farmed animals than are used to treat people⁴ and this over-use is deadly.

There were 61,000 antibiotic-resistant infections in England in 2018, a nine per cent rise from the previous year⁵. Globally, drug-resistant diseases cause at least 700,000 deaths each year, including 230,000 deaths from multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. We are warned that this figure could increase to 10 million deaths per year by 2050 if no action is taken'⁶.

Dame Sally Davies, UK Special Envoy on Antimicrobial Resistance, said in a press interview in April 2019 that the threat of antibiotic resistance was as great as that from climate change, and advocated that it should be given as much attention from politicians and the public. Instead, it is largely ignored. Haileyesus Getahun, the director of the UN's Interagency Coordination Group on Antimicrobial Resistance (IACG), has described the threat of antimicrobial resistance as 'a silent tsunami'⁷.





OUR TREATMENT OF ANIMALS IS MAKING US SICK

All over the world, our treatment of animals, both wild and farmed, is making us sick. Cutting down vast swathes of natural habitats - often to grow feed for farmed animals - stresses wild animals and brings them in ever closer contact with people.

Creatures who would never naturally meet, find themselves caged or killed in close proximity at 'wet' markets. Stressed live and newly killed animals cause the mixing of blood, saliva and faeces. Viruses jump from host to host, from wild to farmed animals, from animals to people.

Meanwhile, inside vast factory farm warehouses, stressed and sick animals are crammed snout to tail, standing or lying in their own excrement. Pathogens emerge, spread and grow more virulent. They can go on to infect and kill people.

The history of zoonotic diseases is long and devastating but one thing is certain: there will be many more future pandemics unless we radically change the way we treat animals and the planet.

Avian Influenza (Bird Flu)

What is it?

Avian influenza (bird flu) is a highly contagious viral disease affecting the respiratory, digestive and/or nervous systems of many species of birds. It is caused by a Type A influenza virus, which has many subtypes. New subtypes and strains arise when the virus undergoes genetic mutations. Some forms of the virus cause mild reactions in people while others, such as H5N1 and H7N9, can be fatal.

History

In its natural state, the virus has existed for millions of years as a harmless, intestinal infection of aquatic birds, such as ducks. It was first discovered among farmed poultry in Italy in the 1870s. Farms provide a perfect environment for viruses to mutate and, in an overview of avian influenza, researchers wrote in a Food and Agriculture Organization paper, 'intensive rearing of poultry has played a role in the emergence of highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses'⁸.

The H5N1 subtype first infected people in 1997 during an outbreak in Hong Kong. Since then, this highly pathogenic diseasecausing strain of the virus has spread from Asia to Europe and Africa, resulting in millions of poultry infections and several hundred human cases, some of which were fatal. While the UK sees multiple cases of bird flu on farms each year, most are the less serious low pathogenic strains⁹. The largest and most serious outbreak occurred at a Bernard Matthews farm in 2007, when 160,000 birds were gassed to death to try to prevent the H5N1 strain of disease from spreading. More than 2,000 of the company's birds died in one week inside one overcrowded shed¹⁰. Despite the birds' severe suffering, the first victims went unnoticed because the attrition rate in intensive poultry sheds is always so high. The industry acknowledges that some 100 viral, bacterial and musculoskeletal conditions commonly affect commercial poultry¹¹.

The highly pathogenic H5 virus has not gone away. There were 24 outbreaks in domestic poultry in six European countries between 30 December 2019 and 18 January 2020.¹²





Routes of transmission

Birds shed the virus in their saliva, nasal secretions and faeces. It can enter farmed poultry units through supplies, cages, clothes, delivery vehicles, mammals and even insects; and diseased material can leave the units in the same way¹³. People are most likely to pick up the bug through direct contact with secretions from infected birds, which means farmers and slaughterers are most at risk.

Following slaughter, the birds' internal organs are removed, during which process the intestines are often ripped. One study found that 42 birds who followed a ripped carcass of an infected bird on the line were cross infected¹⁴. Gerald Kuester, a United States Department of Agriculture microbiologist said: 'At the end of the line, the birds are no cleaner than if they had been dipped in the toilet.'¹⁵

While the H5N1 strain has a mortality rate of about 60 per cent, it cannot pass easily from one human to another¹⁶. As the virus mutates, however, the potential for human to human transmission increases, as does the potential for a pandemic.

Symptoms in animals

The mild form of influenza produces symptoms, including respiratory problems, so inconspicuous that the outbreak may go unnoticed. The severe form, however, may kill almost 100 per cent of infected birds within 48 hours. In 1997, a Hong Kong farmer described the symptoms of H5N1 in chickens: 'Their bodies began shaking as if they were suffocating and thick saliva started coming out of their mouths. The faces went dark green and black and then they died.' Pathologists have found that the virus had reduced the birds' internal organs to a bloody pulp¹⁷.

Symptoms in people

Initial symptoms include a high fever and other influenza-like symptoms. Diarrhoea, vomiting, abdominal pain, chest pain and bleeding from the nose and gums have also been reported as early symptoms in some patients. The disease can progress and cause multiple organ failure and death¹⁸.

Treatment

Hundreds of millions of chickens and ducks have been killed across South East Asia in an effort to prevent the virus spreading from birds to people. However, the widespread use of Amantadine in birds has rendered that drug useless for treating people with H5N1¹⁹. Resistance to Tamiflu (another antiviral drug) has also been detected in patients with the H7N9 strain²⁰. However, antivirals are still administered to patients to help reduce the severity of the condition, prevent complications and improve their chances of survival²¹.

Bovine TB

What is it?

Bovine tuberculosis (bTB) is a disease arising from infection by a bacterium called Mycobacterium bovis (M. bovis), one of 120 species of mycobacteria. Cows, buffalo and bison are the natural hosts but nearly all warm-blooded animals - including people - are susceptible to the infection. In people, the majority of tuberculosis is caused by M. tuberculosis, although humans can also become infected with M. bovis.

History

During the 1930s, at least 40 per cent of British cows were infected with bTB²². Many were kept near large cities to provide urban dwellers with fresh milk and most were closely confined in poorly ventilated sheds. Infected cows would shed M. bovis in their milk. While 20-30,000 people died annually from tuberculosis at that time²³, around 2,500 of these deaths were due to infection with M. bovis, often caused by drinking infected raw milk²⁴. With routine pasteurisation of cows' milk and the inspection of carcasses at slaughterhouses, this transmission largely came to an end.

Routes of transmission

Bovine TB is spread primarily when bacteria are released into the air through coughing and sneezing. This transmission can occur



when animals are in close contact with each other. The intensification of the dairy industry and the move to permanently housed, zero grazed cows are, therefore, real causes for concern. Wild animals may also become infected.

In the UK, badgers were blamed for hosting the disease and for passing it back to cows. Despite a 10-year trial cull concluding that a badger cull could make 'no meaningful impact' on the epidemic in cows,²⁵ the government approved a mass cull of the previously protected wild species. Between 2013 and 2020, more than 100,000 badgers were killed.

In 2018, an independent review found that frequent trading of cows and poor biosecurity on farms was hampering efforts to control the disease. By 2020, the government finally announced it would phase out the badger cull in favour of a vaccination programme²⁶.

Bovine TB still infects people. It can be passed in droplets coughed and sneezed by animals, through drinking unpasteurised milk or through handling infected meat. Currently, less than one per cent of confirmed cases of TB in humans tested are due to infection with M. bovis²⁷.

Symptoms in animals

Lesions are common in the lungs, and these can cause a hard, dry short cough, which leads to more frequent coughing and laboured, painful breathing. The animals lose condition, later cough up blood and suffer from diarrhoea. Lesions can also develop in their udders with hard lumps appearing²⁸. However, due to the slow progression of infection and the early age at which cows are slaughtered, the clinical signs of bTB are now rarely seen in cows in Britain. Bovine TB is rarely fatal, although government policy is to kill any cow found to test positive for the disease, and those in close proximity to her. More than 44,000 cows were slaughtered in England in 2018 due to bovine TB²⁹.

symptoms whether it is caused by M. bovis or the human pathogen M. tuberculosis: a persistent cough, coughing up blood, lack of appetite and weight loss, night sweats and fatigue. It can be fatal if left untreated³⁰.

Treatment

A long course of antibiotics is usually sufficient to treat TB in people although, in rare cases, the disease can be fatal, even with treatment³¹.

Similarly, cows can be treated but the cost of treatment and the fact that raw milk can only be exported if it comes from a TB-free herd makes treatment uneconomic for farmers.

Government policy, therefore, has been to control bTB within an affected herd through testing and slaughter, and to kill badgers. In 2020, the focus shifted with ministers stating that they would support work to improve the accuracy of the tests, and to develop a deployable cow vaccine. They also stated they would support calls by scientists to better manage the movement of cows³².

However, the underlying causes of bovine TB, and numerous other diseases that kill vastly greater numbers of cows every year, are the intensive and stressful conditions to which the animals are subjected.

Symptoms in people

TB in humans produces the same





What is it?

Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy also known as 'mad cow disease' affects the central nervous systems of cows, and is caused by an abnormal infectious protein known as a prion. It has a long incubation period, which means that it typically takes four to six years for cows infected with BSE to show signs of the disease. Many cows are slaughtered or culled long before those signs appear.

History

The first case of BSE was in a cow on a West Sussex farm in 1986. In total, 180,000 cows were affected and 4.4 million were slaughtered during the eradication programme³³. It cost the UK economy between £740 million and £980 million³⁴. The disease has now been found in at least 27 countries³⁴.

In 1996, the government announced a probable link between BSE in cows and



variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease (vCJD) in people - a disease with a 100 per cent mortality rate.

The epidemic reached a peak in 2000 with most reported cases developing through the consumption of contaminated beef. In three cases, the mode of transmission was thought to be through receipt of blood from an asymptomatic, infected donor³⁶.

This is not a historic disease³⁷. Scientists warn that more cases are still to emerge, even 30 years after the initial outbreak³⁸. It has already killed all 178 people infected with it in the UK, and it is thought that one in 2,000 Britons could be carriers of the disease³⁹.

Routes of transmission

BSE is transmitted between cows through the ingestion of BSE prions, not through direct contact with infected animals. It became a huge and widespread disaster because cows, who are natural herbivores, were fed the remains of other sick cows⁴⁰.

People who eat parts of infected animals can develop vCJD, a condition that is always fatal. The disease can also be transmitted via contaminated medical equipment and through blood transfusions.

Symptoms in animals

BSE is a neurological condition that causes a spongy degeneration in the brains of cows. Infected animals may experience intense agitation or fear and try to hide from other cows or people. They may startle easily or become aggressive. They may experience abnormalities in their posture, such as stiffness or a lack of coordination, an increase in slipping and falling, and difficulty in rising. There may also be prolonged episodes of nose licking, snorting, coughing, head tossing and vigorous head rubbing that can cause lesions⁴¹.

Symptoms in people

Anxiety and depression are often the first signs in people. Later symptoms include confusion, memory loss, loss of coordination and balance, problems with vision and hearing, muscle paralysis, speech loss and incontinence. As the condition progresses to its final stages, people become bedridden. The NHS says: 'Nothing can be done to prevent death in these circumstances.'⁴²

Treatment

There is no treatment for cows diagnosed with BSE or for people with vCJD, although medications are given to help with the symptoms⁴³.

Campylobacter

What is it?

Campylobacter is a group of bacteria that are a major cause of diarrhoeal illness in humans and is generally regarded as the most common cause of bacterial food poisoning. Two species account for the majority of infections: C. jejuni and C. coli. Campylobacter is present in the intestines of farmed animals worldwide but, typically, they show no signs of illness.

In 2020, an international team of researchers led by the Universities of Bath and Sheffield, stated that intensive farming techniques could increase the likelihood of Campylobacter pathogens becoming a public health risk.⁴⁴

History

Campylobacter was first observed in stool samples taken from children with diarrhoea in 1886. By 1986, it was the most commonly reported gastrointestinal pathogen in the UK⁴⁵.

A 2008 report found that the UK had the sixth highest prevalence of contaminated chicken carcasses in the EU at 86.3 per cent⁴⁶. In that year, there were almost 50,000 laboratory reports of Campylobacter in England and Wales⁴⁷. The Food Standards Agency worked to reduce this rate but in 2013 admitted: 'Despite significant effort and investment by both industry and government, monitoring data shows that no progress has yet been made in reducing levels of Campylobacter in chicken.^{'48}

By 2017, the number of laboratory reports of this infection had risen to 56,700,⁴⁹ with an estimated 3,500 hospital admissions the following year.⁵⁰

More than half of all cases are attributed to the consumption and handling of chicken, while beef, offal, other meats and unpasteurised milk are also foods most likely to harbour the bacterium⁵¹.

Between 2017 and 2018, Public Health England tested 392 retail chicken samples and found a worrying level of antimicrobial resistance, including multi-drug resistance in 9 per cent of C. coli isolates and 2 per cent of C. jejuni isolates⁵².

Research by Food Standards Agency economists in 2020 put the social and economic costs from Campylobacter at more than £712 million per year⁵³.

Routes of transmission

On farms, Campylobacter is easily transmitted between birds via a shared water source or through infected faeces. When an infected animal is slaughtered, the organisms can be transferred from the intestines to the meat⁵⁴.

Between August 2016 and July 2017, more than half of all shop-bought chicken in the UK was contaminated with the bug⁵⁵. It is not surprising, then, that between 50 and





80 per cent of campylobacteriosis can be attributed to chicken⁵⁶.

Eating undercooked meat (especially poultry) is the main cause of illness. Other sources include contact with live poultry and drinking unpasteurised milk or untreated water.

Symptoms in animals

The types most commonly found in people (C. jejuni and C. coli) are not generally associated with illness in animals, although C. jejuni can cause miscarriage in sheep⁵⁷.

Symptoms in people

Infection can cause a severe form of food poisoning marked by bloody diarrhoea, abdominal pain, fever, headache and vomiting. The symptoms typically last three to six days. Fatal outcomes usually occur only in the very young or elderly, or those with another serious disease. Longterm complications can include paralysis, arthritis, heart infection and septicaemia⁵⁸.

Treatment

Currently there is no efficient vaccine to reduce incidence of Campylobacter in farmed birds, although researchers are attempting to develop one⁵⁹. Preventing its spread on farms is a matter of improving biosecurity and hygiene. Unfortunately, in 2013, the Food Standards Agency (FSA) expressed concern that chicken farmers did not abide by new biosecurity requirements 'with sufficient consistency to be effective'⁶⁰.

At slaughterhouses, hygiene practices may also reduce contamination of carcasses by faeces⁶¹. In some countries, chicken meat is disinfected with a chlorine wash. Chlorinated chicken has been banned in the EU since 1997⁶² but could be sold in British shops in the future.

The only method presumed to eliminate Campylobacter from contaminated foods is heat treatment (cooking or pasteurisation) or irradiation.

In people, treatment is based on oral or intravenous rehydration, with antimicrobial treatment recommended in invasive cases (when bacteria invade intestinal cells and damage tissues)⁶³.

E.Coli (0157:H7)

What is it?

Escherichia coli (E. coli) is a large and diverse group of bacteria, with more than 700 identified types. They are mainly harmless and inhabit the intestinal tracts of people and other warm-blooded animals, but a few strains including the notorious O157:H7, can be deadly. The increased number of human cases has been attributed to the intensification of farming practices and the consequent widespread use of antibiotics.

Studies in France⁶⁴, Sweden⁶⁵ and Canada⁶⁶ have identified a positive correlation between the number of cows in an area and rates of human infection.

History

E. coli O157:H7 was first described as an 'emerging foodborne zoonotic pathogen' (an illness that can be transmitted from animals to humans) in 1982 during an investigation into an outbreak of haemorrhagic colitis bloody diarrhoea, associated with the consumption of contaminated beef burgers in the US ⁶⁷.

The main reservoirs for infection are cows, sheep, goats and deer⁶⁸.

The first community outbreak in the UK was in July 1985 when 49 people fell ill and 19 people were hospitalised⁶⁹. Many more cases followed, including Britain's

deadliest human E. coli O157:H7 outbreak, which occurred in Scotland in 1996 when 21 people died after eating infected meat from a butcher in Lanarkshire. Another 500 were infected⁷⁰.

Since then, outbreaks have continued, with petting farms, meat and contaminated salad leaves all being implicated. In recent years, there has been a sharp rise in E. coli infections in the UK, with more than 43,000 cases recorded in England and Wales in 2018-19,⁷¹ 600 of which were the deadly O157 strain⁷².

Routes of transmission

Since the bacteria are excreted in faeces, there is a potential risk to anyone working with or visiting farmed animals and their environment. Slaughterhouses are an obvious place for contamination of meat. Operators are urged to ensure that the animals' skins are not covered in faeces and prevent the spillage of the digestive tract contents during and after evisceration (organ removal).

The main risk to the public comes from handling and eating infected foods. Raw or undercooked beef products are the most common source of infection for people, but raw milk, yoghurt, cheese and cold sliced meats are also sources of infection⁷³.

In fact, any foodstuff (including raw



Symptoms in people

E. coli O157:H7 can cause severe stomach cramps, vomiting, bloody diarrhoea and fever, although some infected people may have mild diarrhoea or no symptoms at all. In 5 to 10 per cent of patients, it can cause a kidney-related complication that can lead to renal failure, particularly in young children and the elderly⁷⁶.

Treatment

The prevalence of the disease could be reduced by ending intensive dairy cow farming⁷⁷. Vaccines are available for use in cows and research suggests they could reduce the number of human cases by 85 per cent⁷⁸. Since the cows do not get sick with O157, however, farmers are unlikely to pay for it⁷⁹.

Most people infected with 0157 recover without specific treatment, although rehydration is essential. Use of antibiotics may increase the risk of complications. In serious cases, transfusions of blood or blood clotting factors as well as kidney dialysis may be necessary.

vegetables and fruit products) that has been contaminated with faeces containing the bacteria can cause disease. This is most likely to be via contaminated water or animal (especially cow) manure at the farms, but cross contamination during food preparation can also lead to infection⁷⁴. Infected people can pass the disease to others through the same oral-faecal route.

Symptoms in animals

While certain strains of E. coli bacteria can be responsible for acute, painful and potentially fatal forms of mastitis⁷⁵, the most dangerous strain to people - E. coli O157:H7 - does not adversely affect cows.

Foot and Mouth Disease

What is it?

Foot and Mouth Disease (FMD) is caused by a picornavirus, of which there are seven main types, each producing the same symptoms and being distinguishable only in the laboratory⁸⁰. It affects clovenhoofed animals, such as cows, sheep, pigs, goats, camels and deer. According to the government's Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra), 'FMD is probably more infectious than any other disease affecting man or animals and spreads rapidly if uncontrolled.'⁸¹

History

FMD was first shown to be viral in 1897 by Friedrich Loeffler, and the disease is now widespread throughout the world. In 19678, there were 2,364 confirmed outbreaks in Britain, resulting in the slaughter of almost 434,000 animals⁸².

In 2001, there was another devastating UK outbreak, which was first found in an Essex slaughterhouse. The virus was traced back to a swill farm in Northumberland, where pigs were fed plate scrapings and other foods of animal origin including pig meat, that were considered unfit for human consumption⁸³. Around 6.5 million animals were slaughtered on 10,000 farms⁸⁴ and the countryside was brought to a standstill.

Most European countries, including Britain, have now been formally recognised as disease-free but its potential to spread rapidly still causes international concern.

Routes of transmission

Infected animals secrete numerous viral particles that are capable of becoming airborne before clinical signs appear. Transmission can take place on the wind (in 1981 this occurred over 250 km when pigs in Brittany infected cattle on the Isle of Wight) and by the





movement of animals, people and vehicles that have been contaminated with the virus, and via animal products such as meat, milk and semen⁸⁵.

Long-distance animal trading and dense populations of animals typical of modern farming practices help to facilitate the spread. The virus does not readily transmit to humans, but it is possible to spread to people through close contact with infected animals or drinking their raw milk but not through eating infected meat⁸⁶.

Symptoms in animals

Fever is followed by the development of blisters, chiefly in the mouth, or on the feet. FMD is rarely fatal, except in very young animals who may die without showing any symptoms. In dairy cows, there is a high incidence of miscarriage, chronic mastitis and lameness conditions that are already endemic in dairy herds⁸⁷.

Symptoms in people

FMD crosses the species barrier with difficulty but there have been a few recorded cases of humans getting sick⁸⁸. Symptoms are flu-like with a fever and sore throat, although tingling blisters on the hands and feet and in the mouth have also been recorded⁸⁹.

Treatment

For animals, there is no 'cure' but affected animals will usually recover naturally in two to three weeks⁹⁰. However, since those animals may lose productivity and the farmers, therefore, lose profit, it is policy in the UK to slaughter all affected animals and any others who have been exposed to the infectionx⁹¹. During the 2001 UK outbreak, the animals were shot with a captive bolt gun - a retractable metal bolt used to stun animals in slaughterhouses. Following this, their main arteries should have been cut or a metal rod inserted into the gun hole to destroy the brain stem (use of this rod is now illegal). However, there is evidence that for many during the cull, this wasn't the case. They recovered consciousness and experienced their own slow death piled up with their fellows⁹². Younger animals were killed by a painful and traumatic injection directly into the heart.

Vaccination is an alternative to culling. However, vaccination programmes can affect the ability to trade freely in animals and meat products and so they are often resisted.

The last recorded cases of FMD in people in the UK was in the 1960s. Those who got ill were quarantined until they recovered⁹³.

Johne's Disease



What is it?

Johne's disease is an infectious wasting condition caused by Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis (MAP). The bacterium causes a chronic and sometimes fatal infection in cows, sheep, goats and other ruminants. In infected flocks of sheep, the annual ewe mortality rate is estimated to be between 5 and 10 per cent⁹⁴. Johne's is endemic in the UK⁹⁵ but it is not known just how prevalent it is. One 2006 study estimated that around 35 per cent of herds are affected, while more recent small-scale surveys suggest it is closer to 17.5 per cent⁹⁶.

History

Johne's disease was first noted in 1826 but not officially recognised as an infectious disease until 1894⁹⁷. The last 100 years have seen a steady increase in the number of infected animals within a species, the number of different species infected, and the number of countries in which it has taken root⁹⁸.

Routes of transmission

Infected animals shed

the bacteria in manure, colostrum and milk. Infection is most commonly acquired in young animals through ingestion of contaminated milk from an infected cow or through the environment⁹⁹. (Just one cow with diarrhoea could potentially thoroughly contaminate her surroundings¹⁰⁰.) It can also be transmitted from an infected pregnant animal to her foetus.

Confining large numbers of animals in small areas helps to spread the disease and is one reason that it is such a growing threat¹⁰¹.

Subclinically infected animals display no symptoms but they can still shed the bacteria into the environment, giving MAP the opportunity to become entrenched in a herd before it is apparent that a problem even exists¹⁰². Every time animals are transported between farms; new herds may be infected.

Johne's disease can affect people, though experts state that 'due to important knowledge gaps in understanding its role and importance in the development or progression of human disease, its impact on public health cannot yet be quantified or described'¹⁰³.

Increasingly, Johne's disease of ruminants and human Crohn's disease are regarded as the same infectious disease¹⁰⁴ as there are clinical similarities between the two¹⁰⁵. However, if MAP is linked to Crohn's, transmission routes have not yet been established.

Symptoms in animals

In cows, the main signs are diarrhoea and wasting. MAP symptoms are progressive, and so affected animals become increasingly emaciated and usually die as a result of dehydration and muscle loss. Sheep become emaciated but do not suffer diarrhoea. Signs are rarely evident until two or more years after the initial infection.



Symptoms in people

Sufferers of Crohn's experience profuse, urgent diarrhoea, nausea, vomiting, fevers, severe joint pains, lack of energy and weight loss. The immune system starts attacking the lining of the gut, which becomes swollen and inflamed. This painful condition can affect any part of the digestive system from the mouth to the anus.

Treatment

There is no cure for Johne's disease in animalsx¹⁰⁶. Traditionally, it has been controlled through culling, segregating infected animals and stricter hygiene. There is a vaccine, but it is useful only in limited situations, and it interferes with the tuberculin test, which complicates the interpretation of bovine TB testing¹⁰⁷.

Crohn's disease in people is traditionally treated with drugs, nutrition supplements and surgery. However, there is evidence that eating a plant-based diet can help with the symptoms associated with Crohn's disease¹⁰⁸.

Meningitis

What is it?

The bacterium Streptococcus suis (S. suis) is a 'zoonotic agent causing severe infections to people in close contact with infected pigs or pork-derived products'¹⁰⁹. It has been linked to various diseases, including meningitis, septicaemia, and endocarditis, in both pigs and people¹¹⁰.

The bacteria are carried in the tonsils and nasal cavities of apparently healthy pigs allowing infection to spread before symptoms are spotted¹¹¹. It is most commonly found in 4-8-week-old piglets,¹¹² and particularly in intensive, indoor units¹¹³. The bacteria can be passed to people in whom meningitis can develop.

History

Streptococcus suis has been a recognised zoonosis (infectious disease that can be transmitted from animals to humans) since 1968. An editorial in the Journal of Infectious Diseases described it as 'emerging as an important threat to human health'¹¹⁴.

The largest outbreak was in China in 2005, where 215 people were infected and 39 died¹¹⁵.

In 2017 there were just four reported cases in the UK¹¹⁶ but it is a recognised occupational hazard to veterinary surgeons,

farmers and meat industry workers¹¹⁷.

Routes of transmission

Among pigs, the bacteria can be spread by direct and indirect contact. It is present in the faeces and nasal secretions of carriers, and transmission may be through ingestion, inhalation or through nose-to-nose contact. The bacteria can survive on flies for at least five days¹¹⁸ and, unsurprisingly, are more prevalent when pigs are crowded together¹¹⁹.



Human infection is usually through close contact with infected pigs or with raw or undercooked pig meat and is thought to occur through cuts or abrasions on the skin when handling infected pig carcasses¹²⁰.

Symptoms in animals

Typical symptoms include involuntary eye movement, convulsions, paddling, shivering, pain and discomfort, raised hair and grinding teeth¹²¹. In untreated pigs, the mortality rate is 20 per cent¹²².



Symptoms in people

S. suis infection can cause meningitis, the symptoms of which include headache, fever and vomiting¹²³. In serious cases, it can also lead to haemorrhages under the skin, gangrene, inflammation of the heart's inner lining, inflammation in the eyes and pyogenic (pus producing) arthritis¹²⁴. Longterm deafness and loss of balance may occur in some patients. The fatality rate in adult humans is approximately 13 per cent while 39 per cent of people who recover have permanent hearing loss¹²⁵.

meningitis in both animals and people, although resistance to the drugs has been reported¹²⁶, which is perhaps not surprising given industry advice for preventing meningitis is to 'medicate continuously from day of weaning through to six weeks post-weaning'¹²⁷.

Vaccines are administered to pigs even though they are not considered fully effective. Those who work with pigs are encouraged to take appropriate hygiene precautions and keep wounds covered.

Treatment

Antibiotics are the preferred treatment for



MRSA

What is it?

MRSA (methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus) is any strain of the Staphylococcus aureus bacterium that has become resistant to a range of antibiotics. Healthy people may carry the bacterium without



developing any symptoms at all but children, the elderly and those with weakened immune systems are all at a greater risk. One new variant - ST398 has emerged in farmed animals and this can also spread to people. There is an increasing trend in zoonotic transmission in Europe¹²⁸. Surveys conducted on retail beef, pig and poultry meat on sale in the UK have also detected MRSA¹²⁹.

History

MRSA was discovered in the UK in 1961. In the late 1990s it became clear that community-acquired MRSA infections were caused by strains of MRSA that differed from the older and better studied hospitalassociated strains. In 2003, ST398 was found in pigs in the Netherlands and in British farmed animals in 2011. It was discovered in cows, their milk and also a number of people who, it is thought, were infected by contact with infected animals or by people who work with infected animals¹³⁰.

MRSA has since been found in UK poultry¹³¹ and pigs¹³². Researchers said that the idea it may have arisen due to overuse of antibiotics on farms was 'a credible hypothesis'¹³³.

In 2007, it was reported that almost half of all Dutch pig farmers were infected with



MRSA¹³⁴, while in 2013, research suggested that just living close to an intensive pig or poultry farm could lead to greater exposure to the bacteria¹³⁵.

Monitoring of farmed animal-associated MRSA (LA-MRSA) is voluntary under current legislation. The UK does not participate¹³⁶.

Routes of transmission

The bacteria are carried on the skin and in the nasal passages of healthy people and animals and can be passed between species simply through direct contact or through sneezing, coughing or breathing. Infections can also develop when the bacteria enter the body through a wound.

It is commonly found in farmed animals (in 2012, 70 per cent of pigs at slaughter in Denmark were MRSA positive¹³⁷) and can be passed from pigs to farm workers, and then onto other people¹³⁸.

Symptoms in people

Infection can cause symptoms such as boils, abscesses, styes, carbuncles (large pus-filled lumps under the skin), cellulitis (infection of the deep layer of the skin, fat and tissues) or impetigo (highly contagious skin infection that causes blisters). If the bacteria get into the bloodstream, they can cause blood poisoning, septic shock (infection of blood that can lead to organ failure), septic arthritis (severe joint inflammation), osteomyelitis (bone infection), meningitis, pneumonia or endocarditis (infection of the heart lining)¹⁴².

Treatment

While some MRSA strains are resistant to many important antibiotics, most are said to respond to an intensive course of antibiotics. People with invasive infections may be hospitalised and isolated to prevent spread¹⁴³.

It has also been found in milk¹³⁹ and in meat in the UK¹⁴⁰. Pasteurising milk should kill it, as should properly cooking meat but lapses in hygiene can allow the infection to take hold¹⁴¹.

Symptoms in animals

MRSA infected farmed animals often show no symptoms.



Nipah



What is it?

Nipah virus (NiV) is a newly emerging infectious disease. The virus lives harmlessly in fruit bats but started to threaten human lives when it jumped species into factory farmed animals¹⁴⁴.

History

The disease appeared without warning, killing large numbers of farmed pigs in Malaysia and Singapore in 1998 and 1999. Research showed that the virus had come from fruit bats. These wild mammals had been forced to feed at the orchards that stood near to pig farms in northwest Malaysia after the destruction of their own habitat for logging. Their saliva was on the half-eaten fruit they dropped, which was devoured by the pigs¹⁴⁵.

Now, ten countries have reported outbreaks or are said to be at risk. Since the initial outbreak it has primarily affected humans in South and Southeast Asia (Malaysia, Singapore, Bangladesh and India) with devastating consequences¹⁴⁶.

Routes of transmission

It can be transmitted directly from animals to people, through contaminated meat and directly between people¹⁴⁷. During the original outbreak, most infections came from direct contact with sick pigs. During the later outbreaks in Bangladesh and India, Nipah virus spread directly from human to human through close contact with people's secretions and excretions¹⁴⁸.

In the Philippines, people became sick after eating meat from sick horses or participating in their slaughter¹⁴⁹.

Symptoms in animals

Pigs who become infected may exhibit no symptom at all, or they may suffer rapid laboured breathing, an explosive cough, convulsions, pneumonia and death.¹⁵⁰

Symptoms in people

In people, the disease begins with fever and headache, followed by drowsiness and disorientation, which can rapidly progress to coma. Nipah is also associated with encephalitis - an inflammation of the brain¹⁵¹. The case fatality rate is estimated at 40 to 75 per cent. Approximately 20 per cent of patients are left with residual neurological consequences such as seizure disorder and personality changes. A small number of people who recover subsequently relapse or develop delayed onset encephalitis¹⁵². Of the 265 cases of acute encephalitis in people, 105 died.¹⁵³

Treatment

There is no treatment or vaccine available for either people or animals. The primary treatment for humans is supportive care¹⁵⁴. Pigs are slaughtered and their bodies incinerated or buried¹⁵⁵.

Q Fever



What is it?

Q (Query) fever – so-called because for many years its cause was unknown – is a highly infectious zoonosis (a disease that can be transmitted from animals to humans) caused by Coxiella burnetii. The bacterium can affect humans and other animals, including sheep, cows and goats. The low bacterial load required, the ease of its dispersal and ability to incapacitate people, has led several countries to develop C. burnetti for use as a biological weapon¹⁵⁶.

History

Q fever was first recognised in abattoir workers in Brisbane, Australia in 1937 and is now found globally¹⁵⁷. While human cases of Q fever are rare in the UK, there was an outbreak in 2006, which affected 138 people and was associated with a slaughterhouse in Scotland¹⁵⁸. Around 50-100 cases of Q fever are reported in the UK each year although, as many people develop only mild or no symptoms at all, the true incidence is unknown¹⁵⁹.

Routes of transmission

Infection results from inhalation of contaminated particles in the air, and from contact with the milk, urine, faeces, afterbirth and birth fluids of infected animals. As a result, human outbreaks are often associated with the farming birthing season¹⁶⁰. It is also possible for people to become infected through drinking unpasteurised milk or via skin abrasions¹⁶¹.

Symptoms in animals

Signs of the disease are uncommon, but pregnant cows, sheep and goats may miscarry.

Symptoms in people

Q fever usually causes strong, but treatable symptoms in humans, including fever and muscle pains. However, some people develop pneumonia, hepatitis or meningitis, and for others it develops into a chronic illness with symptoms persisting for more than six months¹⁶². Infection during pregnancy can have an adverse effect on the unborn child, including miscarriage¹⁶³.

Only 1-2 per cent of people with acute fever die of the disease, but as many as 65 per cent with chronic versions may die¹⁶⁴.

Treatment

C. burnetii is resistant to heat, drying and many disinfectants, which means the organism can survive in the environment for many months¹⁶⁵. It is difficult, therefore, to prevent farmed animals from becoming infected and there are no formal control programmes or vaccines available in Britain¹⁶⁶.

In most people, Q fever requires no treatment and symptoms will clear up on their own. Antibiotics may be prescribed for some patients.

Salmonella

What is it?

Salmonella is a group of bacteria presenting one of the commonest causes of food poisoning in Great Britain. They can also cause typhoid and paratyphoid fevers. More than 2,500 different strains of Salmonella have been identified, most of which rarely cause disease. In humans, illness is caused by about 10 strains. The most important are S. enteritidis (which originates in infected poultry and eggs) and S. typhimurium (which occurs in cows, pigs and turkeys). Salmonella can contaminate meat, eggs, milk and other dairy products¹⁶⁷.

History

The Salmonella bacterium was first found in pigs in the late 1800s and outbreaks have occurred throughout the last 100 years.



Between 1981 and 1991, the incidence of the non-typhoidal types of Salmonella increased by more than 170 per cent. The rate peaked in 1993¹⁶⁸.

At that time, the Chief Medical Officer advised consumers to stop eating raw eggs and said that all vulnerable people should eat only eggs that had been thoroughly cooked¹⁶⁹. Hundreds of thousands of birds were slaughtered, farmers were compensated and a programme of disinfection was introduced alongside a voluntary vaccination scheme¹⁷⁰. The rate of infection in people declined until 2014 but has since been increasing again¹⁷¹.

There were more than 10,000 cases confirmed in England and Wales in 2018¹⁷² and it is estimated that for every confirmed case, there are nearly five unreported cases, suggesting over 47,000 total cases in 2018¹⁷³.

Routes of transmission

The bacteria are shed in the faeces of infected animals¹⁷⁴ so it is simple for animals on farms to infect one another, particularly as chickens and pigs - the animals most commonly affected - are also the species most commonly intensively reared. Studies show that poor ventilation, high dust levels¹⁷⁵ and overcrowding¹⁷⁶ aid the spread of Salmonella among chickens, as does keeping sheds permanently



populated¹⁷⁷.

Salmonella can be transmitted to people through eating contaminated foods, usually of animal origin; via faeces from an infected animal or person; and through direct contact with infected animals. The most common



sources of infection are poultry meat and eggs. In 2019, 25 egg-laying poultry flocks in the UK tested positive, seven of which were contaminated with the most serious strains¹⁷⁸.

Salad vegetables, spices and herbs, which may have been cross-contaminated with animal faeces, have also been implicated in large outbreaks of the infection.

Symptoms in animals

When farmed animals, particularly poultry and pigs, become infected, they frequently become carriers of the infection without showing signs of ill health. Nevertheless, infection in pigs can lead to pneumonia, coughing, bloody diarrhoea and death;¹⁷⁹ in chickens it can cause blood poisoning, diarrhoea, difficulties breathing and death¹⁸⁰.

Symptoms in people

Symptoms include diarrhoea, stomach cramps, vomiting and fever. Salmonella can also trigger an arthritic condition known as reactive arthritis, which causes painful and swollen joints¹⁸¹. In rare cases, infection can be fatal¹⁸².

Treatment

Most commercial flocks of birds are now vaccinated¹⁸³.

In people, symptoms usually clear up without medical intervention although, in severe cases, treatment may be required for dehydration. In some cases, antibiotics may be prescribed (although a number of Salmonella strains have been found to be resistant to antibiotics)¹⁸⁴.

Swine Flu

What is it?

Swine influenza is a common respiratory illness in pigs caused by a strain of influenza A virus. The H1N1 strain responsible for the 2009 outbreak had been circulating undetected in the swine population for several years prior to its emergence in humans, causing only subclinical symptoms¹⁸⁵. Despite the popular name 'swine flu' the virus is made up of genetic segments originating from avian, swine and human strains. In this case, the pig had acted as a mixing vessel for the virus to change its genetic form¹⁸⁶.

History

H1N1 swine flu is a descendant of the avian flu that killed at least 50 million people in the 1918 epidemic. After 1919, the virus continued to circulate and caused seasonal outbreaks in both people and pigs¹⁸⁷. The virus was first confirmed in pigs in 1931 and in 1976, an H1N1 virus jumped from pigs to people, killing one person in the US. By 1977, it was circulating in people in China.

In 1998, the first hybrid virus - made from human, bird and pig viruses - was discovered in a North Carolina factory farm. It spread rapidly. Vaccines could not control it because the virus kept evolving¹⁸⁸.

In March 2009, the first cases of a new type

of swine flu were reported in the US. By April, 900 cases of suspected swine flu were reported in Mexico and two months later, a pandemic was declared¹⁸⁹. It is said to have started in La Gloria, Mexico, just five miles from a major concentration of large-scale pig factory farms¹⁹⁰.

In all, 457 people in the UK died between April 2009 and March 2010 in a pandemic that cost the country £1.24 billion¹⁹¹. Worldwide, the pandemic is estimated to have killed between 151,700 and 575,400 people¹⁹².

Today, this strain of influenza is not usually specifically tested for and it has joined the set of seasonal flu viruses that circulate each winter¹⁹³.

Routes of transmission

Influenza viruses can be transmitted between pigs, from pigs to people, from people to pigs, and between people¹⁹⁴. Pigs can be infected by avian influenza and human influenza viruses as well as swine influenza viruses. When influenza viruses from different species infect pigs, the viruses can recombine and new viruses that are a mix of pig, bird and human viruses can emerge.

The virus is transmitted in the same way as seasonal flu, through tiny droplets emitted



when pigs or people cough or sneeze.

Symptoms in animals

Swine flu viruses can cause high levels of illness yet low death rates in pigs. Symptoms include fever, depression, coughing (barking), discharge from the nose or eyes, and breathing difficulties.

Symptoms in people

The symptoms are similar to seasonal flu. They include fever, a temperature, aching muscles, diarrhoea or vomiting. In vulnerable people, pneumonia can also develop¹⁹⁵.

Treatment

There is no effective treatment for pigs. Antibiotics may be used to reduce secondary bacterial infections, but this contributes to the overuse of antibiotics and the subsequent increase in resistant bacteria. Vaccination and strict movement controls are recommended, as is keeping animals free from stress, particularly due to crowding and dust¹⁹⁶. This is impossible in most intensive pig farms.

There are antiviral drugs and vaccines available, respectively, to treat and prevent swine flu in people.



Other zoonotic viral epidemics

What are they?

While factory farming is a huge risk for the creation and spread of disease to people, there have also been many other significant viral disease outbreaks in the last 50 years that also stem from our poor treatment of - or inappropriate interaction with - animals. The deadliest of these has been caused by the HIV virus and AIDS.

HIV and AIDS

HIV - Human Immunodeficiency Virus developed from a virus in chimpanzees and most likely jumped species after wild chimps were hunted, killed and eaten¹⁹⁷. The first verified case of HIV is from a blood sample taken in 1959 from a man living in what is now Kinshasa in the Democratic Republic of Congo. By the early 1980s, it had spread widely, and has now killed more than 35 million people globally since 1987¹⁹⁸.

Marburg Virus Disease

Marburg virus disease (MVD) is a highly virulent disease that causes haemorrhagic fever. Two large outbreaks that occurred simultaneously in Marburg and Frankfurt in Germany, and in Belgrade, Serbia, in 1967, led to the initial recognition of the disease. The outbreak was associated with laboratory research using African green monkeys imported from Uganda¹⁹⁹. It can also be found in bats, with the virus crossing to people who are bitten when they catch the bats to eat²⁰⁰.

MVD has a high fatality rate in people, with deaths typically occurring between 8 and 9 days after onset of symptoms.

Ebola

Like Marburg virus disease, Ebola is a severe and often fatal haemorrhagic fever with a high fatality rate. It is thought that fruit bats are the natural hosts of this virus which also infects other wild animals including chimpanzees, gorillas, monkeys, forest antelope and porcupines²⁰¹.

The West African Ebola virus epidemic between 2013-2016 caused 11,325 deaths²⁰². It is thought that catching and eating wild animals was the cause²⁰³.

Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS)

This disease is caused by a novel coronavirus first identified in Saudi Arabia in 2012²⁰⁴.

Symptoms include fever, cough and shortness of breath. Pneumonia is common, but not always present.



While it does not pass easily from person to person, of those who do become infected, approximately 35 per cent die²⁰⁵. It is most commonly associated with camels,²⁰⁶ and may be passed to people who work with, farm, or slaughter camels, or consume their meat or milk²⁰⁷.

Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS)

In late 2002, cases of a mystery pneumonialike illness began occurring in Guangdong province, south-eastern China. The disease, dubbed severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), triggered a global emergency as it spread around the world in 2003, infecting thousands of people.

The virus's natural host is probably the horseshoe bat and from there it passed into civets - a wild cat that is farmed in China. Other animals sold at markets including red foxes and the Chinese ferret badger have also been observed with signs of SARS-CoV infection²⁰⁸. It is possible that one of these captured or farmed wild species acted as the intermediary host between bats and people.

Between November 2002 and July 2003, a total of 8,098 people worldwide became sick with the virus, and of these 774 died²⁰⁹.

COVID-19

SARS-CoV-2 is a novel coronavirus which emerged in China in late 2019 and causes COVID-19. Its origins are still unclear, although early cases have been associated with the Huanan seafood market in Wuhan, where live animals are densely packed in unsanitary conditions, alongside newly killed animals.

The most likely explanation at this time is that the virus had passed from bats to pangolins, who were traded at the market. Pangolins are hunted and traded for their meat, and also for their scales which are used in Chinese medicine. Pangolins are said to be the world's most trafficked animal²¹⁰.

Once the virus had transferred into people, it spread around the world in a matter of weeks, infecting millions and killing hundreds of thousands.

We can change

There is a long and terrible history of human suffering and death as a result of the way we treat animals. When we intensively breed them, lock them up, deny them fresh air, steal away their young and force them to live in squalor - in short, when we fail to treat them like the sentient beings they are we make them vulnerable to illness.

We did not understand that we are all connected. If we cut down forests to grow feed for farmed animals, we come into closer contact with wild species who harbour their own viruses. When we eat the bodies of bacteria-laden animals, we become sick, too.

Scientists are increasingly calling for a change in our behaviour. Says Dr Ariel Kraselnik: 'Flu pandemics will continue if we insist on stacking animals up for our consumption'. Dr Aysha Akhtar advises:

'If we really want to protect ourselves, protect future generations, protect our kids, and protect our families, then we also need to look at protecting other animals and not treating them as commodities.'

The good news is we can change.

And the best thing we can do to protect ourselves, and our families, friends and communities, is to adopt a plant-based diet. If farming, eating and exploiting animals has created wave after wave of pandemics, isn't it time we made the decision to stop doing that?

Dr Neal Barnard says:

'Getting animals off our collective plate would go a long way toward preventing future pandemics and would improve our health and our environment at the same time.'





References

- 1. Zack, Steve. Which Way Will This Bird Flu Fly? Huffington Post. [Online] 15 May 2013. https://www.huffpost.com/ entry/which-way-will-this-bird-flu-fly_b_3280861
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Zoonotic Diseases. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
 [Online] 14 July 2017. https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/ basics/zoonotic-diseases.html
- 3. Steinfeld, Henning. Livestock's Long Shadow. 2006. ISBN: 9789251055717.
- 4. Thi Thu Hao Van, Zuwera Yidana, Peter M Smooker, Peter J Coloe. Antibiotic use in food animals worldwide, with a focus on Africa: Pluses and minuses. Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance, Vol 20, March 2020, Pages 170-177.
- 5. Public Health England. 165 new antibiotic resistant infections every day in England. [Online] 31 October 2019. https://www.gov.uk/government/news/165-newantibiotic-resistant-infections-every-day-in-england
- 6. Interagency Coordination Group on Antimicrobial Resistance. No Time to Wait: Securing the Future from Drug-resistant Infections. 2019. [Online] April 2019. https://www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/ interagency-coordination-group/final-report/en/
- Harvey, Fiona. Antibiotic resistance as big a threat as climate change – chief medic. The Guardian. [Online] 29 April 2019. [Cited: 30 April 2020.] https://www. theguardian.com/society/2019/apr/29/antibioticresistance-as-big-threat-climate-change-chief-medicsally-davies.
- 8. Les Sims, Clare Narrod. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Understanding Avian Influenza. [Online] http://www.fao.org/avianflu/ documents/key_ai/key_book_preface.htm
- 9. Farming UK. 16 cases of bird flu confirmed in UK so far this year. [Online] 24 March 2020. https://www.farminguk. com/news/16-cases-of-bird-flu-confirmed-in-uk-so-farthis-year_55277.html
- Bird flu: Is Bernard Mathew to blame? The Independent. [Online] 9 February 2007. [Cited: 5 May 2020].https:// www.standard.co.uk/news/bird-flu-is-bernardmatthews-to-blame-7267580.html
- 11. The Poultry Site. Disease Guide. The Poultry Site. [Online] https://thepoultrysite.com/disease-guide
- 12. World Health Organization. Increase in 'bird flu' outbreaks – WHO/Europe advice for handling dead or sick birds. [Online] 27 January 2020. http://www.euro.

who.int/en/health-topics/communicable-diseases/ influenza/news/news/2020/01/increase-in-bird-fluoutbreaks-whoeurope-advice-for-handling-dead-or-sickbirds

- 13. Yousaf, M. Avian influenza outbreak hits the industry again. World Poultry. 2004, Vol. 20, 3.
- 14. Greger, Michael. Bird Flu: A Virus of Our Own Hatching. s.l. : Lantern Books, 2006. ISBN: 9781590560983.
- 15. Greger, Michael. Bird Flu: A Virus of Our Own Hatching. s.l.: Lantern Books, 2006. ISBN: 9781590560983.
- 16. World Health Organization. FAQs: H5N1 influenza. [Online] https://www.who.int/influenza/human_animal_ interface/avian_influenza/h5n1_research/faqs/en/
- 17. Greger, Michael. Bird Flu: A Virus of Our Own Hatching. s.l.: Lantern Books, 2006. ISBN: 9781590560983.
- Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Infection in Humans. The Writing Committee of the World Health Organization (WHO) Consultation on Human Influenza A/H5. 29 September 2005, The New England Journal of Medicine.
- 19. Sipress, Alan. Bird Flu Drug Rendered Useless. The Washington Post. [Online] 18 June 2005. https://www. washingtonpost.com/archive/politics/2005/06/18/ bird-flu-drug-rendered-useless/80ffc0a9-c9f7-4cc4-80e7-55bb81fec88a/
- 20. Zielinska, Edyta. Drug resistant avian flu. TheScientist. com [Online] 29 May 2013. https://www.the-scientist. com/the-nutshell/drug-resistant-avian-flu-39263
- 21. UK National Health Service. Bird flu. NHS Website. [Online] 18 May 2018. https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/ bird-flu/
- 22. Davies, Caroline. Bovine TB is 'out of control', warn farmers. The Guardian. [Online] 8 March 2009. https:// www.theguardian.com/uk/2009/mar/08/cattle-bovine-tb
- 23. Public Health England. Tuberculosis mortality and mortality rate, England and Wales, 1913-2012. Public Health England. [Online] https://www.gov.uk/ government/organisations/public-health-england
- 24. BBC News. Bovine TB 'can spread in humans'. BBC News. [Online] 12 April 2007. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/ health/6547973.stm
- 25. Badger Trust challenges 'mass execution'. The Vet Times. 23 April 2010. [Online] [Cited 5 May 2020] https://www. vettimes.co.uk/news/badger-trust-challenges-massexecution/
- 26. Carrington, Damian. 'Seismic shift': ministers signal

end of badger cull. The Guardian. 5 March 2020 https:// www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/mar/05/ badger-cull-phased-out-replaced-vaccinations-bovinetb-england

- 27. Public Health England. Tuberculosis in England 2019 Report. s.l. : Public Health England, 2019. pp. 39-40.
- Farmers Guardian. Bovine TB: What you really need to know about TB in cattle. Farmers Guardian. [Online] 31 October 2014. https://www.fginsight.com/vip/vip/ bovine-tb-what-you-really-need-to-know-about-tb-incattle-126
- 29. Uberoi, Elise. Briefing Paper 6081 Bovine TB statistics: Great Britain. London : House of Commons Library, 2019
- National Health Service in England. Tuberculosis (TB) : Symptoms. National Health Service in England. [Online] 12 November 2019. https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/ tuberculosis-tb/symptoms/
- 31. National Health Service in England Tuberculosis (TB): Treatment. National Health Service in England. [Online] 12 November 2019. [Cited: 27 April 2020.] https://www. nhs.uk/conditions/tuberculosis-tb/treatment/
- 32. Carrington, Damian. 'Seismic shift': Ministers signal end of badger cull. The Guardian. 5 March 2020 https:// www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/mar/05/ badger-cull-phased-out-replaced-vaccinations-bovinetb-england
- BBC News. 'Mad cow disease': What is BSE? BBC News. 18 October 2018 [Online]. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/ uk-45906585
- 34. Troup Buchanan, Rose. Mad cow disease in the UK: What is BSE and what are the symptoms? The Independent. 1 October 2015. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/ uk/home-news/mad-cow-disease-in-the-uk-what-is-bseand-what-are-the-symptoms-a6675351.html
- OIE World Organisation for Animal Health. Annual incidence rate of bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in OIE Member Countries that have reported cases, excluding the United Kingdom up to 31/12/2016. OIE - World Organisation for Animal Health. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 24 April 2020.] https://www.oie.int/en/animalhealth-in-the-world/bse-situation-in-the-world-andannual-incidence-rate/annual-incidence-rate/
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Facts about variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. [Online] 26 June 2017 [Cited: 5 May 2020]. https://www.ecdc. europa.eu/en/vcjd/facts
- 37. Knapton, Sarah and Yorke, Harry. Mad cow disease detected at farm in Britain for the first time in three years. The Telegraph. 18 October 2018. [Online]. https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2018/10/18/case-mad-cow-disease-found-farm-scotland/
- BBC News. Cases of vCJD still to emerge after mad cow disease scandal. BBC News. 11 July 2019. [Online] https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-4894723
- 39. 'Mad cow disease': What is BSE? BBC News. 18 October 2018 [Online]. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-45906585

- Lord Phillips of Worth Matravers, June Bridgeman CB, Professor Malcolm Ferguson-Smith FRS. The BSE Inquiry. The National Archives. [Online] UK Government, October 2000. https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov. uk/20060802142310/http://www.bseinquiry.gov.uk/
- 41. EU TSE Reference Laboratory. Clinical Signs of Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy in Cattle. s.l. : Animal & Plant Health Agency, 2017.
- 42. National Health Service UK. Symptoms: Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease. National Health Service UK. [Online] [Cited 5 May 2020] https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/ creutzfeldt-jakob-disease-cjd/symptoms/
- 43. National Health Service UK. Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease - Treatment. National Health Service UK. [Online] 14 June 2018. [Cited: 29 April 2020.] https://www.nhs.uk/ conditions/creutzfeldt-jakob-disease-cjd/treatment/
- 44. Food Safety News. Researchers investigate role of farming in evolution of Campylobacter. Food Safety News. [Online] 6 May 2020. https://www.foodsafetynews. com/2020/05/researchers-investigate-role-of-farming-in-evolution-of-campylobacter/
- 45. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). Zoonoses Report United Kingdom 2007. s.l. : Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), 2007.
- 46. Wearne, Steve. A Refreshed Strategy to Reduce Campylobateriosis From Poultry. s.l. : Food Standards Agency (FSA), 2013
- Public Health England. Campylobacter 2008 to 2017. Public Health England. [Online]. 17 January 2017. [Cited: 6 May 2020]. https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/campylobacter-infection-annual-data/ campylobacter-data-2008-to-2017
- 48. Wearne, Steve. A Refreshed Strategy to Reduce Campylobateriosis From Poultry. s.l. : Food Standards Agency (FSA), 2013.
- 49. Public Health England. Campylobacter 2008 to 2017. Public Health England. [Online]. 17 January 2017. [Cited: 6 May 2020]. https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/campylobacter-infection-annual-data/ campylobacter-data-2008-to-2017
- 50. Holland, Darren and Mahmoudzadeh, Nazmina. Foodborne disease estimates for the United Kingdom in 2018. Food Standards Agency. January 2020. https:// www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/media/document/ foodborne-disease-estimates-for-the-united-kingdomin-2018.pdf
- Campylobacter Joint Working Group. Introduction to campylobacter. Campylobacter.org.uk [Online] 24 October 2014. [Cited: 6 May 2020] https://www. campylobacter.org.uk/intro-to-campylobacter/
- 52. Public Health England. Antimicrobial resistance in Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli from retail chilled chicken in the UK. Public Health England. [Online] July 2018. https://www.food.gov.uk/print/pdf/node/1571
- 53. Whitworth, Joe. UK foodborne illness burden estimated

at £9 billion. Food Safety News. 14 March 2020. [Online] https://www.foodsafetynews.com/2020/03/ukfoodborne-illness-burden-estimated-at-9-billion/

- 54. World Health Organization. Campylobacter Fact-sheet. World Health Organization. [Online] 23 January 2018. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ campylobacter
- 55. Frieda Jorgensen, Andre Charlett, Eve Arnold, Craig Swift, Nicolae Corcionivoschi, Nicola C Elviss. A microbiological survey of Campylobacter contamination in fresh whole UK-produced chilled chickens at retail sale - Year 3 Report. Food Standards Agency (FSA). s.l. : Public Health England, 2018.
- Scientific Opinion on Quantification of the risk posed by broiler meat to human campylobacteriosis in the EU. EFSA Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ). 28 January 2010, European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) Journal.
- 57. Campylobacter-Associated Diseases in Animals. Orhan Sahin, Michael Yaeger, Zuowei Wu, and Qijing Zhang. Annual Review of Animal Biosciences. Vol. 5:21-42 (Volume publication date February 2017)
- 58. Tanya Roberts, Barbara Kowalcyk, Patricia Buck, Martin J Blaser, JK Frenkel, Bennett Lorber, James Smith, Phillip I Tarr. The Long-Term Health Outcomes of Selected Foodborne Pathogens. The Center for Foodborne Illness Research and Prevention (CFI). Ohio : s.n., 2009.
- 59. Poultry World. Vaccine protocol developed against Campylobacter jejuni. Poultry World. 22 March 2018. https://www.poultryworld.net/Health/Articles/2018/3/ Vaccine-protocol-developed-against-Campylobacterjejuni-262881E/
- 60. Wearne, Steve. A Refreshed Strategy to Reduce Campylobateriosis From Poultry. s.l. : Food Standards Agency (FSA), 2013.
- 61. World Health Organization. Campylobacter Fact-sheet. World Health Organization. [Online] 23 January 2018. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ campylobacter
- 62. BBC News. UK would be 'insane' to let in chlorinated chicken, farmers say. BBC News. 25 February 2020. [Online] https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/ business-51626525
- 63. World Health Organization. Campylobacter Fact-sheet. World Health Organization. [Online] 23 January 2018. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ campylobacter.
- 64. Association between indicators of cattle density and incidence of paediatric haemolytic – uraemic syndrome (HUS) in children under 15 years of age in France between 1996 and 2001: an ecological study. R HAUS-CHEYMO, E ESPIE, D CHE, V VAILLANT, H DE VALK, J C DESENCLOS. 4, s.l. : Cambridge University Press, 22 December 2005, Epidemiology & Infection, Vol. 134, pp. 712-718
- 65. GIS-supported investigation of human EHEC and cattle VTEC 0157 infections in Sweden: Geographical

distribution, spatial variation and possible risk factors. THOMAS KISTEMANN, SONJA ZIMMER, IVAR VÅGSHOLM, YVONNE ANDERSSON. 3, s.l. : Cambridge University Press, 12 May 2004, Epidemiology & Infection, Vol. 132, pp. 495-505.

- 66. Associations between Indicators of Livestock Farming Intensity and Incidence of Human Shiga Toxin-Producing Escherichia Coli Infection. James E Valcour, Pascal Michel, Scott A McEwen, Jeffrey B Wilson. 3, s.l. : Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, March 2002, Emerging Infectious Diseases, Vol. 8. ISSN: 1080-6059.
- 67. Hemorrhagic Colitis Associated with a Rare Escherichia coli Serotype. Lee W Riley, Robert S Remis, Steven D Helgerson, Harry B McGee, Joy G Wells, Betty R Davis, Richard J Hebert, Ellen S Olcott, Linda M Johnson, Nancy T Hargrett, et al. s.l. : The New England Journal of Medicine, 24 March 1983, The New England Journal of Medicine, Vol. 308, pp. 681-685.
- 68. Public Health England. Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC) data: 2018. Public Health England. [Online] 2 February 2020. https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/escherichia-coli-e-coli-0157annual-totals/shiga-toxin-producing-escherichia-colistec-data-2018
- Pennington TH. E. coli O157 outbreaks in the United Kingdom: past, present, and future. Infect Drug Resist. 2014;7:211-222. Published 2014 Aug 19. doi:10.2147/IDR. S49081
- Pennington TH. E. coli O157 outbreaks in the United Kingdom: past, present, and future. Infect Drug Resist. 2014;7:211-222. Published 2014 Aug 19. doi:10.2147/IDR. S49081
- Donnelly, Laura and Taylor, Rosie. Ecoli rates soaring despite ministers' pledge to wage war on superbugs. The Telegraph. 29 December 2019. [Online] https://www. telegraph.co.uk/news/2019/12/29/ecoli-rates-soaringdespite-ministers-pledges-wage-war-superbugs/
- 72. Public Health England. Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC) data: 2018. Public Health England. [Online] 2 February 2020. https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/escherichia-coli-e-coli-0157annual-totals/shiga-toxin-producing-escherichia-colistec-data-2018
- 73. Tidy, Dr Colin. E.coli VTEC 0157. Patient.info. [Online] 1 March 2018. [Cited: 30 April 2020.] https://patient.info/ digestive-health/diarrhoea/e-coli-vtec-0157
- 74. The Role of Pathogenic E. coli in Fresh Vegetables: Behavior, Contamination Factors, and Preventive Measures. J J Luna-Guevara, M M P Arenas-Hernandez, C Martínez de la Peña, Juan L Silva, M L Luna-Guevara. [ed.] Karl Drlica. 26 November 2019, International Journal of Microbiology, Vol. 2019.
- 75. The Role of Pathogenic E. coli in Fresh Vegetables: Behavior, Contamination Factors, and Preventive Measures. J J Luna-Guevara, M M P Arenas-Hernandez, C Martínez de la Peña, Juan L Silva, M L Luna-Guevara. [ed.] Karl Drlica. 26 November 2019, International Journal of

Microbiology, Vol. 2019.

- Tidy, Dr Colin. E.coli VTEC 0157. Patient.info. [Online] 1 March 2018. [Cited: 30 April 2020.] https://patient.info/ digestive-health/diarrhoea/e-coli-vtec-0157
- 77. Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB) Dairy. Technical Information - Types of Pathogens. Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB) Dairy. [Online] [Cited: 30 April 2020.] https://dairy.ahdb. org.uk/technical-information/animal-health-welfare/ mastitis/pathogens-the-cause-of-mastitis/types-ofpathogens/
- 78. Predicting the public health benefit of vaccinating cattle against Escherichia coli O157. Louise Matthews, Richard Reeve, David L Gally, J Chris Low, Mark E J Woolhouse, Sean P McAteer, Mary E Locking, Margo E Chase-Topping, Daniel T Haydon, Lesley J Allison, et al. 1 October 2013, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.
- Gallagher, James. E. coli cases would be cut by cow jabs, scientists say. BBC News. [Online] 16 September 2013.
 [Cited: 30 April 2020.] https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/ health-24108095
- Scott, Phil. Foot and Mouth Disease. National Animal Disease Information Service (NADIS). [Online] 2011.
 [Cited: 1 May 2020.] https://www.nadis.org.uk/diseasea-z/cattle/foot-and-mouth-disease/
- 81. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). Livestock Notifiable Disease Factsheets: Foot and Mouth Disease (FMD). Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). [Online] 16 June 2005. Archived webpage link - original no longer available.
- 82. Robert Davies. Outbreak brings memories of 1967. Farmers Weekly. [Online] 2 March 2001. [Cited: 7 May 2020]. https://www.fwi.co.uk/news/outbreak-bringsmemories-of-1967
- Wellcome Trust Centre for the History of Medicine at UCL. Foot and Mouth Disease: The 1967 Outbreak and its Aftermath. [ed.] L A Reynolds and E M Tansey. 2003. Vol. 18.
- 84. Andrew Donaldson, Richard Lee, Neil Ward, Katy Wilkinson. Foot and Mouth - Five Years On: The Legacy of the 2001 Foot and Mouth Disease Crisis for Farming and the British Countryside. Center for Rural Economy, University of Newcastle-upon-Tyne. 2006.
- Scott, Phil. Foot and Mouth Disease. National Animal Disease Information Service (NADIS). [Online] 2011.
 [Cited: 1 May 2020.] https://www.nadis.org.uk/diseasea-z/cattle/foot-and-mouth-disease/
- 86. Foot and mouth disease: the human consequences -The health consequences are slight, the economic ones huge. Henry Prempeh, Robert Smith, Berit Mueller. 10 March 2001, The British Medical Journal.
- 87. Scott, Phil. Foot and Mouth Disease. National Animal Disease Information Service (NADIS). [Online] 2011. [Cited: 1 May 2020.] https://www.nadis.org.uk/diseasea-z/cattle/foot-and-mouth-disease/

- 88. Foot and mouth disease: the human consequences -The health consequences are slight, the economic ones huge. Henry Prempeh, Robert Smith, Berit Mueller. 10 March 2001, The British Medical Journal.
- 89. Foot- and-mouth disease as zoonosis. Bauer, K. 1997, Archives of Virology Supplementum, Vol. 13, pp. 95-97.
- 90. BBC News. Q&A: Foot-and-mouth disease. BBC News. [Online] 14 September 2007. [Cited: 1 May 2020.] http:// news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/6930899.stm
- 91. Department of the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). Foot and Mouth Disease Control Strategy for. Gov.uk. [Online] 28 November 2011. [Cited: 1 May 2020.] https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69456/ fmd-control-strategy111128.pdf
- 92. Branigan, T. Stunned Livestock "left to die". The Guardian. [Online] 24 March 2001.
- 93. Brown, Paul. Special Report: Foot and Mouth Disease

 Causes and effects of a deadly virus. The Guardian.
 [Online] 5 May 2001. [Cited: 1 May 2020.] https://www.
 theguardian.com/uk/2001/mar/05/footandmouth.
 paulbrown
- Scott, Phil. Johnes and other Wasting Diseases in Sheep. National Animal Disease Information Service (NADIS). [Online] 2011. [Cited: 1 May 2020.] https://www.nadis. org.uk/disease-a-z/sheep/johnes-and-other-wastingdiseases-in-sheep/
- 95. Moredun Research Institute. Johne's disease. Moredun Research Institute. [Online]. https://www.moredun.org. uk/research/diseases/johnes-disease
- 96. Barratt AS, Arnoult MH, Ahmadi BV, Rich KM, Gunn GJ, Stott AW. A framework for estimating society's economic welfare following the introduction of an animal disease: The case of Johne's disease [published correction appears in PLoS One. 2018 Aug 9;13(8):e0202253]. PLoS One. 2018;13(6):e0198436. Published 2018 Jun 6. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0198436.
- 97. BBC News. Medical Notes: Crohn's Disease. [Online] 21 April 1999. [Cited: 1 May 2020.] http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/ hi/health/medical_notes/149004.stm.
- Johne's Information Center University of Wisconsin-Madison School of Veterinary Medicine. Zoonotic Potential. Johne's Information Center - University of Wisconsin-Madison School of Veterinary Medicine.
 [Online] March 2010. Johne's Information Center -University of Wisconsin-Madison School of Veterinary Medicine.
- 99. Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB) Dairy. Technical Information - Johne's Disease. Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB) Dairy. [Online] [Cited: 1 May 2020.] https://dairy.ahdb. org.uk/technical-information/animal-health-welfare/ biosecurity-and-diseases/diseases/johnes-disease/
- 100. Cornell University Department of Animal Science and Division of Nutritional Sciences. Proceedings 1999 Cornell Nutritional Conference for Feed Manufacturers.

1999.

- 101. Hoard's Dairyman. Johne's Disease a Growing Threat to Dairymen. 1981, pp. 456-460.
- 102. Manure and Microbes: Public and Animal Health Problem? Pell, Alice N. 1997, Journal of Dairy Science, Vol. 80, pp. 2673-2681.
- 103. Whittington R, Donat K, Weber MF, et al. Control of paratuberculosis: who, why and how. A review of 48 countries. BMC Vet Res. 2019;15(1):198. Published 2019 Jun 13. doi:10.1186/s12917-019-1943-4
- 104. Dow, CT and Sechi LA. Cows Get Crohn's Disease and They're Giving Us Diabetes. Microorganisms. 2019 Oct 17;7(10). pii: E466. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms7100466.
- 105. On the Prevalence of M. avium Subspecies paratuberculosis DNA in the Blood of Healthy Individuals and Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Ramon A Juste, Natalia Elguezabal, Joseba M Garrido, Andres Pavon, Maria V Geijo, Iker Sevilla, Jose-Luis Cabriada, Angel Tejada, Francisco García-Campos, Roberto Casado, et al. 2 July 2008, Public Library of Science ONE (PLOS ONE).
- 106. Barratt AS, Arnoult MH, Ahmadi BV, Rich KM, Gunn GJ, Stott AW. A framework for estimating society's economic welfare following the introduction of an animal disease: The case of Johne's disease [published correction appears in PLoS One. 2018 Aug 9;13(8):e0202253].
 PLoS One. 2018;13(6):e0198436. Published 2018 Jun 6. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0198436
- 107. Agricultural and Rural Delivery Directorate. Johne's disease: how to spot and report the disease. Scottish Government. 28 Oct 2018 [Online] https://www.gov.scot/ publications/johnes-disease/
- 108. Paddock, Catharine. Could a plant based diet be the answer to Crohn's disease? Medical News Today. 27 June 2019 [Online] https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/ articles/325589
- 109. Goyette-Desjardins G, Auger JP, Xu J, Segura M, Gottschalk M. Streptococcus suis, an important pig pathogen and emerging zoonotic agent-an update on the worldwide distribution based on serotyping and sequence typing. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2014;3(6):e45. doi:10.1038/emi.2014.45
- 110. Okura, M., Maruyama, F., Ota, A. et al. Genotypic diversity of Streptococcus suis and the S. suis-like bacterium Streptococcus ruminantium in ruminants. Vet Res 50, 94 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-019-0708-1
- 111. Public Health Agency. Streptococcus suis: General Information. Public Health Agency. [Online] https:// webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140714093706/ http://www.hpa.org.uk/Topics/InfectiousDiseases/ InfectionsAZ/StreptococcusSuis/GeneralInformation/
- 112. Public Health Agency. Streptococcus suis: General Information. Public Health Agency. [Online] https:// webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140714093706/ http://www.hpa.org.uk/Topics/InfectiousDiseases/ InfectionsAZ/StreptococcusSuis/GeneralInformation/

- 113. Linden., Jackie. Streptococcus suis Disease in Pigs. The Pig Site. [Online] 10 July 2013. https://thepigsite.com/ articles/streptococcus-suis-disease-in-pigs
- 114. Streptococcus suis: An Emerging Human Threat. Segura., Mariela. 1, s.l. : Oxford Academic, 1 January 2009, The Journal of Infectious Diseases, Vol. 199.
- 115. First Characterization of Fluoroquinolone Resistance in Streptococcus suis. Jose Antonio Escudero, Alvaro San Millan, Ana Catalan, Adela G. de la Campa, Estefania Rivero, Gema Lopez, Lucas Dominguez, Miguel Angel Moreno, Bruno Gonzalez-Zorn. 2, s.l. : American Society for Microbiology, February 2007, Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, Vol. 51, pp. 777-782.
- 116. Public Health England. Zoonoses Report: UK 2017. s.l. : HM Government, 2018.
- 117. Health and Safety Executive (HSE). Zoonoses Data Sheets: Streptococcus suis. Health and Safety Executive (HSE). [Online] [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.hse.gov. uk/agriculture/zoonoses-data-sheets/streptococcussuis.pdf
- 118. Iowa State University College of Veterinary Medicine. Streptococcal Infections. Iowa State University College of Veterinary Medicine. [Online] [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https:// vetmed.iastate.edu/vdpam/FSVD/swine/index-diseases/ streptococcal-infection
- 119. Effect of management practices on the Streptococcus suis carrier rate in nursery swine. S A Dee, A R Carlson, N L Winkelman, M M Corey. 2, 5 July 1993, Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, Vol. 203, pp. 295-299.
- 120. Public Health Agency. Streptococcus suis: General Information. Public Health Agency. [Online] https:// webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140714093706/ http://www.hpa.org.uk/Topics/InfectiousDiseases/ InfectionsAZ/StreptococcusSuis/GeneralInformation/
- 121. The Pig Site. Meningitis. [Online] [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://thepigsite.com/disease-guide/meningitis
- 122. Streptococcus suis: An Emerging Human Threat. Segura., Mariela. 1, s.l. : Oxford Academic, 1 January 2009, The Journal of Infectious Diseases, Vol. 199.
- 123. Streptococcus suis: An Emerging Human Pathogen. James M Hughes, Mary E Wilson, Heiman F L Wertheim, Ho Dang Trung Nghia, Walter Taylor, Constance Schultsz.
 5, s.l. : Oxford Academic, 1 March 2009, Clinical Infectious Diseases, Vol. 48, pp. 617-625.
- 124. Streptococcus suis: An Emerging Human Pathogen. James M Hughes, Mary E Wilson, Heiman F L Wertheim, Ho Dang Trung Nghia, Walter Taylor, Constance Schultsz.
 5, s.l. : Oxford Academic, 1 March 2009, Clinical Infectious Diseases, Vol. 48, pp. 617-625.
- 125. Seele, J., Tauber, S.C., Bunkowski, S. et al. The inflammatory response and neuronal injury in Streptococcus suis meningitis. BMC Infect Dis 18, 297 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-018-3206-6
- 126. Hernandez-Garcia J, Wang J, Restif O, et al. Patterns of antimicrobial resistance in Streptococcus suis

isolates from pigs with or without streptococcal disease in England between 2009 and 2014. Vet Microbiol. 2017;207:117-124. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.06.002

- 127. The Pig Site. Meningitis. The Pig Site. [Online] [Cited: 6 May 2020]. https://thepigsite.com/disease-guide/ meningitis
- 128. Anjum MF, Marco-Jimenez F, Duncan D, Marín C, Smith RP, Evans SJ. Livestock-Associated Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus From Animals and Animal Products in the UK. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:2136. Published 2019 Sep 12. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.02136
- 129. Anjum MF, Marco-Jimenez F, Duncan D, Marín C, Smith RP, Evans SJ. Livestock-Associated Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus From Animals and Animal Products in the UK. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:2136. Published 2019 Sep 12. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.02136
- 130. Sample, Ian. New strain of MRSA superbug may have spread from cattle to humans. The Guardian. [Online] 3 June 2011. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.theguardian. com/science/2011/jun/03/new-strain-mrsa-cattlehumans
- 131. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). Livestock-associated MRSA found at a farm in East Anglia. Gov.uk. [Online] 26 November 2013. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.gov.uk/government/news/ livestock-associated-mrsa-found-at-a-farm-in-east-anglia
- 132. Farmers Weekly. Vets report UK's first case of MRSA in pigs. Farmers Weekly. [Online] 28 July 2014. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.fwi.co.uk/livestock/vets-report-uk-sfirst-case-of-mrsa-in-pigs
- 133. Ghosh, Pallab. MRSA: New strain of superbug found in cows. BBC News. [Online] 3 June 2011. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/health-13632369
- 134. Wallop, Harry. Supermarket meat 'could be MRSA infected'. The Telegraph. [Online] 25 June 2007. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/ uknews/1555576/Supermarket-meat-could-be-MRSAinfected.html
- 135. Soil Association. Research finds public health risk of living near industrial scale farms. Soil Association Media Release. 27 March 2013.
- 136. Livestock-Associated Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus From Animals and Animal Products in the UK. Muna F Anjum, Francisco Marco-Jimenez, Daisy Duncan, Clara Marín, Richard P Smith, Sarah J Evans. 12 September 2019, Frontiers in Microbiology.
- 137. Cindy M. Dierikx, Paul D. Hengeveld, Kees T. Veldman, Angela de Haan, Sanne van der Voorde, Petra Y. Dop, Thijs Bosch, Engeline van Duijkeren, Ten years later: still a high prevalence of MRSA in slaughter pigs despite a significant reduction in antimicrobial usage in pigs the Netherlands, Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, Volume 71, Issue 9, September 2016, Pages 2414–2418, https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkw190
- 138. Andrew Wasley, Kjeld Hansen and Fiona Harvey.

Revealed: MRSA variant found in British pork at Asda and Sainsbury's. The Guardian. 3 October 2016. [Online] https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2016/ oct/03/revealed-mrsa-variant-found-in-british-pork-atasda-and-sainsburys

- 139. Catherine de Lange. New MRSA superbug discovered in cows' milk. New Scientist. 3 June 2011. [Cited: 6 May 2020] https://www.newscientist.com/article/dn20542new-mrsa-superbug-discovered-in-cows-milk/
- 140. Andrew Wasley, Kjeld Hansen and Fiona Harvey. Revealed: MRSA variant found in British pork at Asda and Sainsbury's. The Guardian. 3 October 2016. [Online] https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2016/ oct/03/revealed-mrsa-variant-found-in-british-pork-atasda-and-sainsburys
- 141. Andrew Wasley, Kjeld Hansen and Fiona Harvey. Revealed: MRSA variant found in British pork at Asda and Sainsbury's. The Guardian. 3 October 2016. [Online] https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2016/ oct/03/revealed-mrsa-variant-found-in-british-pork-atasda-and-sainsburys
- 142. Gompf, Sandra Gonzalez. MRSA. MedicineNet. [Online] 14 November 2019. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www. medicinenet.com/mrsa_infection/article.htm
- 143. National Health Service (NHS). MRSA. National Health Service (NHS). [Online] 24 March 2020. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/mrsa/
- 144. The Pirbright Institute. Nipah virus. The Pirbright Institute. [Online] https://www.pirbright.ac.uk/viruses/ nipah-virus [Cited: 7 May 2020].
- 145. Sarah Boseley. Nipah: fearsome virus that caught the medical and scientific world off-guard. The Guardian. [Online] 18 January 2017. https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2017/jan/18/nipah-fearsome-virus-that-caughtthe-medical-and-scientific-world-off-guard
- 146. The Pirbright Institute. Nipah virus. The Pirbright Institute. [Online] https://www.pirbright.ac.uk/viruses/ nipah-virus [Cited: 7 May 2020].
- 147. The Pirbright Institute. Nipah virus. The Pirbright Institute. [Online] https://www.pirbright.ac.uk/viruses/ nipah-virus [Cited: 7 May 2020].
- 148. World Health Organization. Nipah virus. World Health Organization. [Online] 30 May 2018. [Cited: 7 May 2020]. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ nipah-virus
- 149. The Center for Food Security & Public Health. Nipah virus infection. The Center for Food Security & Public Health. [Online] January 2016. [Cited: May 7 2020]. http://www. cfsph.iastate.edu/Factsheets/pdfs/nipah.pdf
- 150. The Pirbright Institute. Nipah virus. The Pirbright Institute. [Online] https://www.pirbright.ac.uk/viruses/ nipah-virus [Cited: 7 May 2020].
- 151. The Pirbright Institute. Nipah virus. The Pirbright Institute. [Online] https://www.pirbright.ac.uk/viruses/ nipah-virus [Cited: 7 May 2020].
- 152. World Health Organization. Nipah virus. World Health

Organization. [Online] 30 May 2018. [Cited: 7 May 2020]. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ nipah-virus

- 153. Looi LM, Chua KB. Lessons from the Nipah virus outbreak in Malaysia. Malays J Pathol. 2007 Dec;29(2):63-7. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19108397
- 154. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ nipah-virus
- 155. World Health Organization. Nipah virus. World Health Organization. [Online] 30 May 2018. [Cited: 7 May 2020]. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ nipah-virus
- 156. The Infectious Dose of Coxiella Burnetii (Q Fever). Rachael M Jones, Mark Nicas, Alan E Hubbard, Arthur L Reingold. s.l. : SAGE Journals, 1 March 2006, Applied Biosafety.
- 157. Lowth, Mary. Q Fever. Patient.info. [Online] 26 June 2014. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://patient.info/doctor/q-feverpro.
- 158. Lowth, Mary. Q Fever. Patient.info. [Online] 26 June 2014. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://patient.info/doctor/q-feverpro
- 159. Health and Safety Executive (HSE). Zoonoses Data Sheets - Q Fever. Health and Safety Executive (HSE). [Online] [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.hse.gov.uk/agriculture/ zoonoses-data-sheets/q-fever.pdf
- 160. Sterling, T. Dutch cull first of 40,000 goats to counter Q-fever outbreak, which has killed 6 people. The Canadian Press. 21 December 2009.
- 161. Public Health England. Q Fever: Information for Farmers. Public Health England. [Online] December 2015. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/487806/Q_fever_information_for_farmers_2015.pdf
- 162. Health and Safety Executive (HSE). Zoonoses Data Sheets - Q Fever. Health and Safety Executive (HSE). [Online] [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.hse.gov.uk/agriculture/ zoonoses-data-sheets/q-fever.pdf
- 163. Public Health England. Q Fever: Information for Farmers. Public Health England. [Online] December 2015. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/487806/Q_fever_information_for_farmers_2015.pdf
- 164. The Center for Food Security and Public Health, Iowa State University. Q Fever. The Center for Food Security and Public Health, Iowa State University. [Online] November 2017. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] http://www.cfsph. iastate.edu/Factsheets/pdfs/q_fever.pdf
- 165. Public Health England. Q Fever: Information for Farmers. Public Health England. [Online] December 2015. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/487806/Q_fever_information_for_farmers_2015.pdf
- 166. Public Health England. Q Fever: Information for Farmers. Public Health England. [Online] December 2015. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/

government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/487806/Q_fever_information_for_farmers_2015.pdf

- 167. Laurence Knott. Salmonella. Patient.info. 28June 2019. [Online] https://patient.info/digestive-health/diarrhoea/ salmonella
- 168. The "Decline and Fall" of Nontyphoidal Salmonella in the United Kingdom. O'Brien, Sarah J. 5, s.l. : Oxford Academic, 19 November 2012, Clinical Infectious Diseases, Vol. 56, pp. 705-710.
- 169. The "Decline and Fall" of Nontyphoidal Salmonella in the United Kingdom. O'Brien, Sarah J. 5, s.l. : Oxford Academic, 19 November 2012, Clinical Infectious Diseases, Vol. 56, pp. 705-710.
- 170. The "Decline and Fall" of Nontyphoidal Salmonella in the United Kingdom. O'Brien, Sarah J. 5, s.l. : Oxford Academic, 19 November 2012, Clinical Infectious Diseases, Vol. 56, pp. 705-710.
- 171. Public Health England (PHE). Salmonella data 2007 to 2016. Public Health England (PHE). [Online] May 2018. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://assets.publishing.service.gov. uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ data/file/711972/salmonella_data_2007_to_2016_ may_2018.pdf
- 172. Public Health England. Salmonella in Livestock Production in GB 2018. s.l. : Public Health England, 2019.
- 173. Public Health England. Zoonoses Report: UK 2017. s.l. : HM Government, 2018.
- 174. Linden, Jackie. How to Prevent Salmonella. The Pig Site. [Online] 19 February 2013. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https:// thepigsite.com/articles/how-to-prevent-salmonella
- 175. Detection of Airborne Salmonella enteritidis in the Environment of Experimentally Infected Laying Hens by an Electrostatic Sampling Device. Richard K Gast, Bailey W Mitchell, Peter S Holt. 1, s.l. : BioOne, 1 January 2004, Avian Diseases, Vol. 48, pp. 148-154.
- 176. Population Dynamics of Salmonella enterica Serotypes in Commercial Egg and Poultry Production. Steven L Foley, Rajesh Nayak, Irene B Hanning, Timothy J Johnson, Jing Han, Steven C Ricke. 13, s.l. : American Scciety for Microbiology, June 2011, Applied and Environmental Microbiology, Vol. 77, pp. 4273-4279.
- 177. Linden, Jackie. How to Prevent Salmonella. The Pig Site. [Online] 19 February 2013. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https:// thepigsite.com/articles/how-to-prevent-salmonella
- 178. Andrew Wasley, Alexandra Heal and Fiona Harvey. Dozens of people poisoned this year by salmonellainfected British eggs. The Guardian. 20 September 2019. [Online] https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2
- 179. Linden, Jackie. How to Prevent Salmonella. The Pig Site. [Online] 19 February 2013. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https:// thepigsite.com/articles/how-to-prevent-salmonella
- 180. The Chicken Vet. The Advice Hub Salmonella. The Chicken Vet. [Online] [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www. chickenvet.co.uk/salmonella
- 181. Tanya Roberts, Barbara Kowalcyk, Patricia Buck, Martin J Blaser, JK Frenkel, Bennett Lorber, James Smith, Phillip

I Tarr. The Long-Term Health Outcomes of Selected Foodborne Pathogens. The Center for Foodborne Illness Research and Prevention (CFI). Ohio : s.n., 2009.

- 182. Andrew Wasley, Alexandra Heal and Fiona Harvey. Dozens of people poisoned this year by salmonellainfected British eggs. The Guardian. 20 September 2019. [Online] https://www.theguardian.com/ environment/2019/sep/20/dozens-of-people-poisonedthis-year-by-salmonella-infected-british-eggs
- 183. Food Safety News. UK businesses urged to rely on British eggs for safety. Food Safety News. 16 August 2018.
 [Online] https://www.foodsafetynews.com/2018/08/ question-sent-to-jw-uk-businesses-urged-to-rely-on-british-eggs-for-safety/
- 184. Wang X, Biswas S, Paudyal N, et al. Antibiotic Resistance in Salmonella Typhimurium Isolates Recovered From the Food Chain Through National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System Between 1996 and 2016. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:985. Published 2019 May 7. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.00985
- 185. Emily Porter. Swine flu doesn't just pass from pigs to people – it goes both ways. The Conversation.
 [Online] 7 September 2016. [Cited] 6 May 2020. https:// theconversation.com/swine-flu-doesnt-just-pass-frompigs-to-people-it-goes-both-ways-63958
- 186. Emily Porter. Swine flu doesn't just pass from pigs to people – it goes both ways. The Conversation.
 [Online] 7 September 2016. [Cited] 6 May 2020. https:// theconversation.com/swine-flu-doesnt-just-pass-frompigs-to-people-it-goes-both-ways-63958
- 187. Michelle Marshall and Debora Mackenzie. Timeline: the secret history of swine flu. New Scientist. [Online] 29 October 2009. [Cited: 6 May 2020]. https://www. newscientist.com/article/dn18063-timeline-the-secrethistory-of-swine-flu/
- 188. Michelle Marshall and Debora Mackenzie. Timeline: the secret history of swine flu. New Scientist. [Online] 29 October 2009. [Cited: 6 May 2020]. https://www. newscientist.com/article/dn18063-timeline-the-secrethistory-of-swine-flu/
- 189. Michelle Marshall and Debora Mackenzie. Timeline: the secret history of swine flu. New Scientist. [Online] 29 October 2009. [Cited: 6 May 2020]. https://www. newscientist.com/article/dn18063-timeline-the-secrethistory-of-swine-flu/
- 190. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Key Facts about Swine Influenza (Swine Flu) in Pigs. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. [Online] 19 August 2014. [Cited: 1 May 2020.] https://www.cdc.gov/flu/swineflu/ keyfacts_pigs.htm.
- 191. Richard Alleyne. Swine flu killed 457 people and cost £1.24 billion, official figures show. The Telegraph.
 [Online] 1 July 2010. [Cited: 6 May 2020]. https://www. telegraph.co.uk/news/health/swine-flu/7865796/Swine-flu-killed-457-people-and-cost-1.24-billion-official-figures-show.html
- 192. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).

2009 H1N1 Pandemic (H1N1pdm09 virus). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). [Online] 11 June 2009. [Cited: 12 April 2020.] https://www.cdc.gov/flu/ pandemic-resources/2009-h1n1-pandemic.html

- 193. National Health Service UK. Swine flu (H1N1). National Health Service UK. [Online] 2 September 2019. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/swine-flu/
- 194. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2009 H1N1 Pandemic (H1N1pdm09 virus). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). [Online] 11 June 2009. [Cited: 12 April 2020.] https://www.cdc.gov/flu/ pandemic-resources/2009-h1n1-pandemic.html
- 195. National Health Service UK. Swine flu (H1N1). National Health Service UK. [Online] 2 September 2019. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/swine-flu/
- 196. Dee, Scott A. Swine Influenza. MSD Manual Veterinary Manual. [Online] November 2014. [Cited: 3 May 2020.] https://www.msdvetmanual.com/respiratorysystem/respiratory-diseases-of-pigs/swineinfluenza?query=swine%20influenza%20classical
- 197. Origin of HIV/AIDS and risk for ongoing zoonotic transmissions from nonhuman primates to humans. Martine Peeters, Steve Ahuka Mundeke, Eitel Mpoudi Ngole, Eric Delaporte. 7 July 2010, HIV Therapy.
- 198. UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. UNAIDS Data 2019. s.l. : UNAIDS - Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, 2019.
- 199. World Health Organization. Marburg virus disease. World Health Organization.15 February 2018. [Online] https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/marburgvirus-disease
- 200. Science Daily. Marburg virus found in Sierra Leone bats. Science Daily. 24 January 2020. https://www. sciencedaily.com/releases/2020/01/200124073910.htm
- 201. World Health Organization. Ebola virus disease. World Health Organization. 10 February 2020. https://www.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ebola-virus-disease
- 202. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2014-2016 Ebola Outbreak in West Africa. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. [Online] 8 March 2019. https:// www.cdc.gov/vhf/ebola/history/2014-2016-outbreak/ index.html
- 203. Melissa Hogenboom. Ebola: is bushmeat behind the outbreak? BBC News. [Online] 19 October 2014. [Cited: 6 May 2020]. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/ health-29604204
- 204. World Health Organization. Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV). World Health Organization. 11 March 2019. https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/middle-east-respiratorysyndrome-coronavirus-(mers-cov)
- 205. World Health Organization. Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV). World Health Organization. 11 March 2019. https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/middle-east-respiratorysyndrome-coronavirus-(mers-cov)

- 206. Evidence for Camel-to-Human Transmission of MERS Coronavirus. Esam I. Azhar, Sherif A. El-Kafrawy, Suha A. Farraj, Ahmed M. Hassan, Muneera S. Al-Saeed, Anwar M. Hashem, Tariq A. Madani. 2014, The New England Journal of Medicine.
- 207. World Health Organization. Frequently asked questions on Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV). World Health Organization. 21 January 2019. https://www.who.int/csr/disease/coronavirus_infections/ faq/en/
- 208. Isolation and Characterization of Viruses Related to the SARS Coronavirus from Animals in Southern China. Y. Guan, B. J. Zheng, Y. Q. He, X. L. Liu, Z. X. Zhuang, C. L. Cheung, S. W. Luo, P. H. Li, L. J. Zhang, Y. J. Guan, et al. 2003, Science.
- 209. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Frequently asked questions about SARS. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. [Online] 3 May 2005. [Cited: 8 May 2020]. https://www.cdc.gov/sars/about/faq.html
- 210. Michael Marshall. Covid-19 a blessing for pangolins? The Observer. 18 April 2020. https://www.theguardian. com/environment/2020/apr/18/covid-19-a-blessing-forpangolins

Please follow and support our work











AnimalAid

@AnimalAid

@animalaid_uk animalaid.org.uk



Animal Aid, The Old Chapel, Bradford Street, Tonbridge, Kent, TN9 1AW. Tel: 01732 364546 | Email: info@animalaid.org.uk

Incorporated under the name Animal Abuse Injustice and Defence Society Limited, a company limited by guarantee. Registered in the UK no. 1787309. Registered office as above. VAT no. 395 2761 19.

